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IN THE MATTER OF MAY AND BEN

Headnote: Disclosure of sexual abuse by father upon daughter-contested residency/contact proceedings (both young children) before Family Court-Family Court not finding father had or had not sexually abused child - finding there was a possibility father had sexually abused child and risk he might do so if he had the opportunity- risk regarded as real not trivial- residence to mother, supervised contact to father - further disclosures of sexual abuse/threats of physical harm-care of children assumed by DOCS-care application (ground s.7l(1)(e))-assertion that delusional belief system operated within the maternal household that children had been sexually abused that had psychologically harmed children-interim order placing children in care of Minister-children placed with maternal grandparents but then moved to sole care of father-binding effect of Family Court findings-conflict of expert opinion evidence-whether court in finding children to be in need of care if bound by ground in the application-relevant date when continuing situation-implications of s.72 -meaning of "sexually abused" in ground (c)-meaning of "domestic environment in which he or she is living" in ground (e).
CRAWFORD CM:  The child ‘May’ was born on the [     ] l997 (now aged 5 years) and ‘Ben’ on the [    ] l999 (now aged 3 years).  They are the natural children of Mr B and Ms C.  The parents are divorced.

The facts of this case are very troubling.   The children have been embroiled indirectly (and directly through various interim arrangements for their care) in almost continuous litigation for l8 months or more.  The passage of time, the process of further evaluation and certain steps taken by the applicant Department while the children have been in care, have, if anything, brought even greater complexity to the matter than at the time it was before the Family Court.

The proceedings before the Family Court occupied some 7 sitting days (including the date of judgment). The matter has occupied, I believe some l4 days (including today) before the Children’s Court. This is illustrative of the complexity of the evidence and factual situation.

The broad issues for determination relate to the competing assertions that the mother has (certainly had) a specific delusional psychiatric condition the crux of which is a delusional belief that her children have been abused and are at risk of sexual abuse by the father.  By inference by some unclear means, this delusional belief has induced in the child May also a belief of such sexual abuse and that this (together with a general climate of suspicion and fear) threatens the emotional stability and development of the child.  Further, that the younger child Ben being exposed to the same domestic environment it as risk of also taking on these delusional beliefs.

The alternative assertion is that the mother’s (and of course the child’s beliefs) are reasonably based and are not the product of delusion.  Of course both could possibly be true.   On this basis the care of either parent potentially poses a risk to the children’s emotional and social development.  

The expert opinion evidence before the court is substantially polarised between the alternative contentions.   The case for the applicant has followed an unfaltering course in pressing the position that the mother has a delusional psychiatric condition and is largely dismissive of any risk real or potential to the children involving the father. This is the position the other parties have had to respond to.

While I am solely concerned with the establishment of these applications to the requisite standard of proof on the evidence which is presented to this court, I would observe that the dismissal of these applications is likely to trigger inevitably a new round of litigation in the Family Court, if for no other reason that the supervised contact arrangements to the father have, by effluxion of time, ceased. 

It would however be incorrect to confine the scope of the court’s inquiry into the matters of the applications to the issue of delusion versus sexual abuse.   There are substantial issues relating to the children’s emotional needs and parenting capabilities.  Each parent has been considered to have definite limitations in this regard.   I might emphasise that the quality of day to day care of the children by the parents has never been criticised.   Irrespective of where the truth lies in these counter assertions, it is beyond any question that these children are “victims” of a tragic situation in their upbringing which has been beyond their control. 

The Care Applications
Care applications are brought pursuant to s.6l of the Children and Young Persons (Care and Protection) Act l998 by the applicant Department and filed on the 4th October 2001.  I believe the applications were preceded by emergency care and protection proceedings.

The applications are brought under ground (e) which provides –

“the child or young person is suffering or is likely to suffer serious developmental impairment or serious psychological harm as a consequence of the domestic environment in which he or she is living”.
The court is required to hold an inquiry into the matter. The burden of proof lies upon the applicant.  The standard of proof is the civil standard on the balance of probabilities (the “Briginshaw” test (Briginshaw v. Briginshaw (l938) 60 CLR 336).

The court is required to establish or find that the child is in need of care.  The court in considering that issue is not bound by the ground upon which the applicant has sought to rely upon in the application itself. Factually there is often much overlap between the various grounds set out in s.7l.

Some reference has been made to the relevant time frame for a consideration of this question.  Concepts provided for as grounds such as “serious development impairment” “serious psychological harm” “basic psychological or educational needs” can invite a consideration by the court of a continuing state of affairs where an examination of events as at a particular day only would not only be inadequate but  likely lead to a positively misleading conclusion.

While the legislation is not identical in its term, a general approach can be drawn from the House of Lord decision of Re D (A Minor) (l987) 1 A.C 3l7. In that case it was held that the term “is being” (“is being avoidably impaired or neglected or is being ill-treated”) related to a continuing situation or state of affairs. The relevant point of time the court had to consider was that immediately before the process of protection but the court had to look at the situation both as it was at that time and as it had been in the past.  How far back the court looked depended on the facts. The court should also look forward in conjunction with the present and past in the sense of asking whether if the process of protection had not been put in motion, how the situation would have been likely to continue.

Status of the Decision of Mr. Justice Chisholm in the Family Court
The judgment of His Honour was filed as part of the applicant’s evidence. It provides important background information of the marital relationship and allegations aired in those proceedings. It has been treated in this case as going beyond being merely a historical document but as having judicially resolved the issues necessarily with that decision. Certainly this has been the position reached very early in the proceedings.

I would emphasise that this has been a position taken in the particular circumstances of this case. I would not wish it to be misunderstood that the court was necessarily required to adopt that approach.   In matters involving the welfare of children, the court is not precluded absolutely from re-examining facts which have been determined in earlier proceedings (Re B (minors)(care proceedings: issue estoppel) (l997) 3 W.L.R. l; 2 All E.R. 29).  The headnote to the report summarises the principles to be applied –

“….there was no strict rule of estoppel binding on any of the parties in children’s cases, although the court has a discretion to decline to allow a full hearing of the evidence in relation to matters decided in previous proceedings; that where one party in a case concerning children wishes to rely on, and another party to challenge, findings made in previous proceedings the court might wish to be made aware of those findings and of the evidence on which they were based before deciding whether to exercise its discretion to allow any issue of fact to be tried afresh; that, in exercising that discretion, the court would balance the underlying considerations of public policy that there was a public interest in an end to litigation, that delay in determining the case was likely to be prejudicial to the interests of the child concerned, that the child’s welfare was unlikely to be served by reliance upon determinations of fact which turned out to have been erroneous, and that the court’s discretion must be applied so as to work justice; that the court would also consider the importance of previous findings in the context of the current proceedings and whether there was any reason to think that a rehearing of the issue would result in any substantially different finding, having regard to whether the previous findings had been the result of a full hearing and if so whether there was any ground on which their accuracy could have been appealed at the time, and whether there was any new evidence or information casting doubt on their accuracy….”

The proceedings were obviously lengthy and His Honours reasons detailed and obviously closely considered. A re-examination of the evidence was, in my view, inconsistent with the child’s interest in that it would substantially lengthen the duration of the hearing and was unlikely to result in any substantially different findings on those facts (which facts were of receding importance in the evaluation of the current situation).

Although as a matter of practicality it has been difficult to absolutely confine an examination of events featured in the earlier proceedings, a starting point has been a general acceptance that a decision was made upon the facts presented.   Clearly neither parent was happy with all aspects of the decision.  Their position unambiguous.   The applicant Department’s position as I would infer it to be, is more difficult. I would summarise it this way – on the material His Honour had to consider we accept the decision but that decision has to be re-interpreted in the light of new information (and by inference different conclusions reached).

Before the Family Court the father was the applicant seeking a residence order (with restrictions as to his residence and other conditions).  The mother was the respondent and seeking a residence order in her favour with no contact between the father and children.  His Honours findings have to be read in the context of the contest before him and the terms of the legislation which set out the principles he was required to apply.   Neither the parties, the legislation nor the issues are the same before this court as was before the Family Court.

As an aside,  I deliberately did not read His Honour’s judgment in any great detail until the evidence and submissions had concluded as I did not wish any comments therein to influence my own assessment of the witnesses.

The Mother’s Delusional Beliefs
The crux of the applicant’s case is that the mother suffers from a specific psychiatric delusional illness the specifics of which are that the children have been sexually abused by their father and that the child May at least has taken on and internalised those false beliefs and is responding in the manner of a child who has been sexually abused or at least has been influenced to adopt the mother’s beliefs.

The basis of this finding is found in the report and testimony of Dr.Quadrio whose latest report was prepared at the request of the Department.

Dr.Quadrio had prepared a s.3OA report in association with the Family Court proceedings dated 4th March 200l.  She interviewed the mother, maternal grandparents, May, the father, paternal grandparents and observed the child Ben. 

Dr.Quadrio did not have information regarding the sexual abuse allegations. May did make disclosures concerning her father but Dr.Quadrio did not pursue them (p.27 of report).  Dr.Quadrio raised but did not resolve alternatives of the child being sexually abused or coached to falsely say she had been (p.27). She could not make a diagnostic assessment of the mother.

The assessment has to be read within its purpose of addressing the conflicting claims for residency and associated contact issues in then before the Family Court.

On the 28th March 2001 an addendum to the report was prepared based on additional information but without further interviews and which did not advanced a resolution of the alternatives.

Limitations of Dr Quadrio’s Assessment

1. Limited information available to Dr Quadrio concerning the case. Dr Quadrio herself referred to this.

2. The difficulties in assessing the mother. This goes more to the mother’s emotional state rather than any supposed psychiatric condition. Her intellectual functioning also comes into play. She certainly suffers from a degree of depression and the expected stress of the ongoing situation of herself and her children.  The marriage between the parents had significant relationship problems from the outset.  The mother probably is of low intelligence but certainly under normal stresses would function adequately as a parent. 

3. I am not really in a position to challenge Dr.Quadrio’s clinical judgment of her seeing the mother.  To the extent that she supported her clinical judgment by information of the outcome of investigations which are said to rebut the mother’s allegations I would not place the degree of confidence in those as refuting material that Dr.Quadrio has.   There appears to be an assumption by Dr.Quadrio that further allegations of sexual abuse are “new” allegations which occur in the context of contacts since the Family Court decision was reserved. The child has made disclosures of a sexual nature but I cannot read into them sufficient context to exclude them being related to an earlier point of time.  There is no physical evidence which fixes them in time.  If they are not “new” allegations in the sense of fresh incidents then the whole issue of the nature and stringency supervision of the father’s contact becomes largely irrelevant.  The fact that some disclosures appear to have common content features does not exclude them being related to the same incident or different incidents.   Recurrent sexual abuse often has a pattern or even a ritualistic quality in its occurrence and also in its disclosure.

4. The core focus of the mother’s delusion is a belief that the father has sexually abused the children.  Yet, independently of the mother, there is gathering support (especially more-so for the child May than Ben) for this view.  That growing amount of material in terms of incidents, details, emotional response of the child, demonstrated behaviour-- even when viewed with dispassion, is difficult to put aside.   It would be unrealistic to expect any mother wishing to protect her child, to view this mounting material with complete detachment or an absence of alarm.  If the child has presented to the mother as the child has presented to others, then there is nothing on the face of the mother’s response as being irrational (even if what the child was saying was unreliable).   The cross over point between where a mother is making an assessment of the risk of sexual abuse, in an emotional climate, on fragmented information from her very young daughter and a mother who on the same information from the same child becomes delusional, must be extremely difficult to discern.

5. There is an issue for me concerning the shifting nature of this delusion which now is expanded to guns and axe handles and threats via the child to shoot teachers and other students at the school.  This seems to be almost counter indicative of a fixed specific delusion of sexual abuse.  It is a bit like expanding the theory to fit the facts when the original theory no longer fits.

Dr.Quadrio is eminently qualified in her field and at the time that she saw the mother her assessment may possibly be correct.  But well qualified opinions of others differ from hers. One serious limitation in evaluating these apparently conflicting opinions is that not all professionals have interviewed the same people, had the same background information or carried an assessment within the same time frame.

Dianne Starkey
Dr.Quadrio’s assessment of the mother having a delusional disorder gets some (I think heavily qualified) support from the assessment of Dianne Starkey (and her testimony).   In her report(p.26) she referred to Dr.Quadrio’s “tentative diagnosis”.  She suggested the diagnosis was based on the “disputing of [the mother’s] statements by others’ reports of reality”. She looked to areas where there may be confirmation of the actual facts eg.the results of a police investigation, confirmation of the father being at work at certain times and dates when it was claimed he was near the pre-school. Ms Starkey also referred to the possibility that the claims of future sexual abuse on contact could refer to earlier occasions but recently recounted.  Confirmation is not found in her report that the mother is delusional in respect of this matter (see p.27 “If it is concluded that [the mother] is delusional….).   She recommended (p.29)..”In order to assist in the untangling of this very complicated situation, I would recommend that [the mother] be seen by a psychiatrist who is in full knowledge of the facts outlined in this case and that medical intervention for [the mother’s] possible Delusional Disorder be instigated as soon as possible.”
Of course that has occurred and this takes me then to the report and evidence of Dr.Cubis.

Dr Cubis
Dr.Cubis has had an ongoing professional relationship with the mother for an extended period.  He refers to her intellectual limitation as “borderline or mild intellectual disability” but more relevantly, her functioning as “surprisingly competent” and gives examples.  The view most favourable to the applicant was that he was open to the possibility that the mother suffered from a delusional disorder but did not believe that this was the case.  He referred to the mother’s “preoccupations” with the children’s sexual abuse by their father and considered them to be an “overvalued idea”.  

In his second report of the lOth May 2002 his opinion remains unaltered and can be summarised as follows –

“I believe that she is an intellectually disabled woman who has a very concrete thinking style with few social skills and a rigid rather demanding coping style. Her background has been sheltered. Her beliefs are based on her experience of her husband herself. I am slightly more prepared to consider her beliefs are delusional ie has a delusional disorder and I am more aware of how tough she is. My opinion is still however that this is not delusional but related to her disability, the intensity of her feeling about the children and thinking and coping style.”
I would not accept all aspects of these comments as being adverse as they first appear to be of the mother. I think her response is very much contextual.  Certainly she has a fixed, sinister and manipulative impression of her former husband and no doubt this influences what she thinks he is capable of concerning the children. She gives no impression that such suspiciousness is a common feature of her opinion of other people.  In the course of assessments she appears to have been more open and less guarded than one would have expected in the circumstances.   In relation to the care of her children she appears to be quite open to seeking advice.  She continued the relationship with Dr.Cubis even though his first report was in part critical of her.

I was impressed by the assessment of Dr.Cubis. He has had many opportunities to interview the mother. I consider this to be an important matter because of her communication limitations in the way she processes information and expresses herself.   When [the mother] testified on the first day she seemed to be overwhelmed by the occasion. She was very stressed. There was confusion about dates and details, delays in answering questions, pauses when she broke down crying and the ongoing consumption of glasses of water.

On the next occasion where the mother was cross examined over successive days,  her mood and demeanour was entirely different, she was coherent, composed, able to concentrate, gave detailed responses to detailed and sustained questioning that many witnesses would have found challenging. She was able to maintain such concentration during hours of questioning.   Her memory appeared to be very good. I am unable to say whether her presentation on the two occasions was a matter of growing confidence, resilience or a better management of her depression and anxiety.

A good illustration of the interplay of her emotional state at the time of interview and her general limitations in communicating matters of detail is the incident about seeing the gun/axe handle when driving past the father’s residence.  Dr.Quadrio saw this as confirmation of the mother’s delusion.  Dr.Cubis explained this (rather convincingly I thought) as an “illusion” rather than a “delusion”.  The mother gave an enlarged upon explanation of driving past the house on two occasions (which put a rather different complexion on the original abridged version).

Joyce Muul
Joyce Muul is a psychologist who has been engaged in a counselling relationship also with the mother for some time now.  I inferred that Dr.Cubis has more of a clinical role with the mother whereas Ms Muul is more an emotional and social supportive role.

It may be argued that she is not as well qualified as a psychiatrist to give an opinion of the mother’s state of mind.   I thought as a witness she was very impressive.  I also note her quite extensive background in the mental health area.  At the very least her evidence was an assessment of the mother as having a delusional belief depended on further assessment (in which the father was also assessed).  Her assessment was an adjustment disorder with depressed mood (transcript 3l/l/02 p.53) which deteriorated to a relapse in her depressive illness complicated by grief and loss following the removal of the children (agreeing with the proposition) (p.54).   I would have thought if the mother was obviously delusional it would have been more than apparent to the witness Ms Muul with her background and experience in psychiatric illness. This is not a case where Dr.Quadrio’s assessment stands uncontradicted by other psychiatric evidence. I still have a question mark over some of the factual assumptions which have influenced Dr.Quadrio’s assessment.   I feel that her (Muul’s) evaluation is useful in part because of the extensive opportunity she has had of interacting with the mother and the duration of that professional relationship. Ms Muul also does have rather extensive experience with a background in the psychiatric health area.   

Conclusion
This is not an area where Dr.Quadrio’s professional opinion stands uncontradicted by other professional evidence. I have already referred to the questions about information that Dr.Quadrio has used to test the mother’s veracity and to supplement her clinical opinion.   I also think that it would have been useful given the dynamics of the case to have had the father complete the identical assessments.

I have not quoted in detail from the transcript. I did not understand the witnesses to significantly deviate from their reports in their testimony.  I did observe (I believe during an interlocutory hearing) that overall professionals who were less supportive of the “delusional” theory were those professionals who have had the greater opportunity to view the mother. I find this is an extremely important factor. Her demeanour, her flat affect, the way she responds to questions, how she uses language to convey information, ideas and feelings (and her emotional state on the day) make her a difficult person to assess and get an overall picture of.   I cannot get beyond the view that those who have had the greater opportunity of relating to her must have a significant advantage in making any assessment dependent on observation and clinical judgment.  

It is the key plank of the applicant Department’s case that the mother has a psychiatric delusion disorder or illness.  The court has conflicting expert opinion on this point. The court does not have the expertise of those experts but at the end of the day must evaluate the opinion of one against the other and against other evidence and reach a conclusion as best as it is able to do so.

The fact that the mother has no resistance to the child being interviewed not in the mother’s presence tends against an inference that the child is being coached.  While it is also true that the abuse allegations (more accurately protection of the children from the risk of abuse) is a focus for her attention, the extent that she actually pursues those beliefs (if delusional) is rather limited and pointed. For example, there is no evidence of her engaging in a campaign of assailing the media, government agencies and public officials. Her motivation always seems very child focused rather than seeking retribution regardless of the effect upon the child. These are not significant points but they continue to tip the balance away from her having a delusional thought process. 

My conclusion is, that making due allowance for the fact that the mother may well present differently at different times; may relate more favourably and openly to some people than others and that any condition that she may have may fluctuate in its intensity, the evidence that she has a delusional disorder at its highest is inconclusive. There is compelling evidence that she does not.  Because a finding that she has a delusional disorder would have significant implications on the mother’s reputation, for future case management, perhaps medical intervention and establishing a “history” for her and the children, the court should be very hesitant to make such finding beyond a consensus of credible professional opinion.

I  am unable to conclude that she has or had a delusional psychiatric disorder.

Sexual Assault Allegations
I am not going to reiterate the aspects of evidence which led His Honour to the findings set out in his judgment.  His Honour’s primary task was to evaluate whether there should be a change of residence of the children from the mother to the father. I did not read the judgment that the sexual abuse allegations were decisive of that determination. In para 213 of the judgment the conclusion is made that orders for residence or unsupervised contact in favour of the father would expose May to an unacceptable risk of abuse. It was common ground that the children should live together.   His Honour was not able to reach a finding that the father had sexually abused each child or that he had not done so (para 209) - “ in all the circumstances there is a possibility that the father might have sexually abused May, and a risk that he might do so again if he had the opportunity”.  The risk was regarded as real not trivial.  “It would understate my view of the risk to say that I merely had ‘lingering doubts’ about May in the unsupervised care of the father”.   His Honour then referred to the operative words “unacceptable risk” which gave justification in a legal sense for the orders made of supervised contact with conditions. 

The orders had the aim of resuming contact between father and children  “under conditions of safety” and also with the paternal grandparents (but without conditions).  The paternal grandparents were considered part of the protection for the children.   The contact with the father was to be alternative Sundays (for 7 hours).  For the initial 6 months contact with the father was to be supervised by the paternal grandparents or [        ]. There was a condition (not limited in time) that the father not attend to dressing, bathing or toileting of the children in the absence of one of the paternal grandparents.  The father was not involved in transportation of the children on contact.

What I found to be rather unclear in His Honour’s decision is why the unacceptable risk (without some other intervention) ceased to be addressed after 6 months.  I can only surmise that, especially given the young age of Ben that a condition prohibiting the father’s involvement in dressing, bathing and toileting etc was considered to be so limiting in practice that contact could only be exercised with one of the parental grandparents being present.

If what May was saying in her disclosures were not “new” incidents then there is nothing “new” in that sense for the court to consider beyond His Honour’s conclusions (with which I must say I agree upon a reading of the judgment).  If there were no new incidents, subsequent disclosures would only be a repetition or enlargement on what had happened earlier.

Muddying the waters
The process of evaluation of the disclosures of May as “new” or “old” (in the sense of referring to past incidents or new incidents) and the implications on that assessment of a change of focus from sexual abuse to threats of physical harm, has been irretrievably compromised by the pre-emptive decision to place the children in the care of the father on the (unreliable as turns out) interpretation of the report of Dr.Quadrio.   I find the comments of Dianne Starkey to be spot on.

“… it is difficult to understand [the father’s] being allowed to move in with the children (against the Family Law Orders) prior to the assessment taking place and prior to an alternative decision being made by the Children’s Court in regard to the care of the children. It means that it is harder to interpret the lack of disclosures by May in this assessment because she has been living in the home of the previously alleged perpetrator of abuse against her and her little brother, and therefore could be seen to have been under his influence for that period of time.” (p.2l) (I might add that whether this was against the court order or not is not really to the point).

“If it is accepted that [the mother] has a Delusional Disorder as suggested by Dr.Quadrio, then it is possible that the allegations made by May are a function of May’s being caught up in her mother’s delusional system, and therefore that [the father] is innocent of these crimes against his children. However, it is difficult to assert this with absolute confidence since it is also possible that both could be true at the one time. I was unable to assess this situation given the circumstances of May’s now being placed with her father and not disclosing any information regarding the alleged abuse at this stage, whereas I understand that she was very forthcoming with the information in the past.  I was not willing to lead her into the discussion of this by direct questioning, and she did not volunteer any allegations about her father.”
Ainscough averted to the effects of the child being moved from a household in which she is believed to another where she is not. (Transcript 25/7/02 p. 303)  “….if there’s a child who’s been sexually assaulted, she’s been in a situation where she’s been believed and, you know, encouraged to talk about it and, you know, express the feelings that she’s actually having about it and then she goes to a situation where it’s the opposite of that then yeah I think that will have a very big repercussions for her.”
Father’s Denials
The father has always denied any allegations. In one sense his position is untenable because there is no doubt that the child May has made disclosures of the most serious nature against him.  If true not only does this have implications for possible criminal proceedings (the father was granted a certificate in these proceedings) but they would involve a huge loss of face in the eyes of his family and the community.   I would imagine this to be important for most people but I would think very important indeed to [the father].  It is almost impossible for him to try to show a negative - that something that has not happened did not happen.  (This is not to suggest there is any legal requirement for him to do so).

There have been a number of issues averted to regarding the father’s personality (a need to control the situation, self-centredness, lack of empathy, possibly viewing May as being more mature than she is, attribution of motives to the child (eg attention seeking). There was the undoubted mismatch of expectations between parents in their marital relationships and the mother’s unavailability sexually.  At the end of the day I am unable to draw anything from this either in favour that abuse has occurred or it has not.     

It appears to me that he is a person who is still struggling to come to terms with the breakdown of his marriage.     I certainly think that he a desire to feel in control of the situation and the present situation is largely out of his control and he is not very comfortable with that.   I think he would be quite resistant to seeking any form of help of counselling himself, perhaps resistant is not the correct term, rather he would not see the purpose it would achieve.

If he has not been involved with the children inappropriately then the allegations are a great injustice to him.  But a case of sympathy for his predicament should not shift the focus required of the court and that is to redress the needs of the children whether the allegations against him are true untrue (or something in between).

Evaluating the sexual abuse allegations
Objectively considered, what this very young child has said about her father has to be taken very seriously.   If what May says is true then there would be no other witnesses and there is not likely to be any independent corroboration.  The child’s disclosures are as complete as you would expect given her age and development, the normal limited exposure of children to adult sexual matters, and her imputed understanding of would be strange events to her. You would expect she may well be secretive. She may not necessarily be fearful of her father at the time.

I now turn to the interview with May on 2 August 2001. The first observation is that if these were not “new” disclosures then you would expect that may influence the child’s emotional presentation while disclosing because she has gone through this process before.  You would not expect the same affect as in the case of a spontaneous disclosure. At page 23 the child agrees she was told by her mother that she was coming to talk to somebody and was told to tell the truth.  In fact it was a question at the start of the interview “Is that the truth?” which triggered the child commencing to disclose alleged abuse.   Having proceeded briefly into the disclosure, the process was perhaps unfortunately cut off by intervening questioning over the next 6 pages on a range of largely extraneous matters and with a view to validating the child’s level of understanding.

I accept that interviewing young children is difficult and it is customary to try to gather by questioning knowledge of their understand of language and concepts such as truth and lies but what occurred had the potential to detract from the spontaneity of disclosures.   Some aspects of May’s knowledge of anatomy and use of language in connection with sexual matters are age appropriate.   Some aspects are clearly not.

The concepts which she is conveying in her answers, certainly establishes that the child has had an exposure to sexual matters vastly beyond her age and inappropriate to her proper social and emotional development.

The aspect that I have difficulty in getting past the allegations is not so much the content (which in itself is worrying) but the descriptive terms, the sequencing of events and the emotional reaction of the child. For example, the use of the word “suck” (p.2) “ Um, I sucked it hard” (p.9) “Because I feeled wet in my mouth”(p.l8) “I felt, um, I didn’t want to do it” (p.l7).   The sequencing appears in pp l8 and l9 where the child describes an act of oral sex then the balloon (condom) is put on, there is ejaculation in the condom, the condom is removed, either the condom or semen goes on the floor and the condom is then discarded in the bin.  This is being told by a child who is just a little over 4 years of age.

An evaluation of this interview by JIRT is referred to in the affidavit of Kay Rogers (affidavit 3/l0/01 para.35).  It is difficult to determine from a transcript but there is little that supports the comment that the child “happily” spoke of the sexual assault or enjoyed discussing this part of the interview.  Criticism is made that the child “clearly described” the wee in her mouth was yellow “but gives different colours for tinkle”. One might ask rhetorically were there any “tinkle” coloured pencils?  It was obvious from the course of the interview the child simply does not understand the names of colours.  Yet on p l7 she was asked “Is his tinkle this colour?” while being shown a yellow pencil. To which she answered “Grey”.   Does the child know the colour yellow? Was the showing of a yellow pencil a cue for the child to pick a pencil of the same colour a few questions later?  Was it a lucky guess? What is clear is that the issue of the yellow pencil was a hopelessly inadequate basis to seek to validate or refute the child’s claims.

There is a criticism that May indicated a couple of centimetres when asked about the size of her father’s penis. I was not able to locate anything in the transcript of what the child indicated.  Does size mean the same thing as length to the child?   At page l5 of the transcript May was asked “Is daddy’s tinkle the same as Ben’s?” (There is no question of size there). On the same page there is a difficult passage where May is asked “So how long is daddy’s tinkle? (in margin May drew).  There is obviously some confusion from the transcript about who is represented in the figures and it looks like an adult has written Ben and Daddy on the accompanying drawing.  If this is the reference, was it intended the child’s drawing was to scale.  Did the child understand what was expected was the actual size?  If criticism is made of the child’s credibility by the indication of size was she asked to demonstrate the size of anything else as a measure of comparison? 

Para 35 of the same affidavit makes reference to an assertion about the father putting his tinkle in Ben’s mouth, bottom, in May’s bottom or tinkle.  I could not find that in the JIRT interview of  2 August.  This seems to be confused with a disclosure to a local doctor.  A possible explanation is that the deponent did not have access to the transcript of her own interview with May when that affidavit was prepared

Nothing regarding the sexual abuse allegations emerged from Dr.Quadrio seeing May briefly on  l4 September 2001. (The focus was on threats made via the child that the father might shoot the fence, the dog or some school kids or maybe grandma and grandpa.  What an emotional burden for the child to hold that belief?  Little wonder then that Dr.Quadrio described her as “very subdued rather dissociated and almost mechanical in the way she related these phenomena”.)

There is the undisputed evidence of the child’s masturbation (or on Dr.Quadrio’s viewing of the tape, of possibly simulated masturbation). I don’t recall there being evidence on the point but I would not think this to be necessarily rare or associated with sexual abuse. I have not viewed the video because the evidence about it is adequate and I do not think I will be assisted by trying to interpret myself.  As part of the overall view that there is something seriously disturbing going on in this child’s life I think it is significant to that degree. If it was to be simulated I would be even more concerned about it.  While I am open to the possibility that even a young child through self discovery may masturbate, I am not open to the possibility that a young child could learn to simulate masturbation without knowledge gained from (probably sinister) outside source.

(In the English case of Re W (Minors)(Wardship:Evidence) referred to later, the trial judge referred to sexually precocious behaviour using the rather understated expression of children “behaving in a sexual manner not to be found in girls who have been brought up with care.”)

There is then the material presented by the mother concerning the child’s drawings (the “angry daddy” drawings).   I do not propose to attempt to interpret them myself but I do accept they are May’s drawings and the mother’s evidence of how they were explained to her by May.  The child’s explanation does not seem obviously at odds with the drawings as best as one can tell.    I do not place great weight on them but they do add another layer to the child’s description of her feelings and experiences (even if they are experiences had been induced into the child’s memory by overt coaching or subtle unintentional suggestion).   What the child has said is significant in the context showing a consistency in what she has said on other occasions.

There is a further (largely overlooked) matter that came out of the JIRT interview with May.

“ROGERS:
 Mm. Did anything else happen? Mm. Does anybody else do this?

MAY:

 Um, I think other daddy’s do.

 ROGERS:
 You think other daddy’s do. How do you know that?

MAY:

 Um.”

It is a very common feature of child sexual abuse for the abuser to endeavour to avoid the child telling anyone about the abuse. Not only would there be concerns about the consequences of discovery for the abuser, but as a means of having the child’s cooperation for future abuse.  One obvious means adopted is by threat (threat of physical threat, or threat of abandonment-- “DOCS will take you away and put you in a home”).  The threat of physical harm seems to be associated with the more aggressive types of abuse or with older children.  A different feature adopted by the abuser is to seek to normalise the behaviour to the child.  Because the abuser already has a trusted relationship with the child, the child finds this readily believable.   This approach is also intended to overcome any instinctive unease that the young child would have when the child becomes the target of adult sexual desires.   It is absolutely certain that the child has been told this and it is unfortunate that she was unable or unwilling to say from where this comes from.

Evidence of the child’s emotional involvement as demonstrated in the JIRT interview is advanced somewhat further in the evidence of Ainscough (transcript p.308) in her use of the “bear cards”.  May was asked to select from cards with a bear with various expressions.  She was asked to find the bear whose expression felt like May feels about her father sexually assaulting her.  The question was “ what do you think this bear is feeling?”  The child interpreted the feelings as scared, angry, sad, surprised and doing something wrong.  Standing alone in a case where there were no allegations such a selection could mean many things.  In combination with other material and where there are allegations against the father then this must be taken seriously.

Objectively viewed there is a constellation of disturbing concerns. There is evidence of fears and disturbed behaviour, regression in development, sexual acting out (whether simulated or otherwise), disturbing drawings, the contents of her statements to various adults in contrast to behaviour earlier in her life.  There is evidence of sexual knowledge vastly beyond her years.  Her disclosures taken as a whole have clarity, detail, sequence and emotional response at the time of the incident occurring (there is congruence between details and feelings).  In the previous paragraph I refer to the “secrecy” component of the child’s disclosure.

Whether these are “new” or “old” disclosures is made more complicated by the manner in which young children recall traumatic events in their lives. I refer to the evidence to Ainscough (transcript 25/7/02, p.301) –

“My understanding is that there were two things operating, that there was the sexual acting out behaviour at times from May but there were also at times…further disclosures of abuse, it didn’t mean that they were necessarily new situations that had occurred…..but that they may have been past sexual assaults that she was then disclosing. I mean children don’t necessarily operate on the same…..time line, time frame and what tends to happen is that children do disclose sexual assault in, you know, in little bits and pieces, it’s the whole nature of traumatic memory that it becomes fragmented so children might disclose fragmented pieces of information over a period of time and they could be referring to things that happened some time ago but not be able to place that in time.”
The bottom line for the child May is that whether sexual abuse has occurred or not there is a serious situation with her that needs to be addressed.  Further, that Ben has the potential to be exposed to the same environment.

Dr.Henry’s role was not to assess whether abuse had occurred or not.  I do not think anything that comes from her assessment discounts the likelihood that abuse occurred.

Would the children still be at some risk?
If sexual abuse has occurred by the father towards the child May (or children) then the only way to approach this question is by asking what has changed?  The father has not put before the court any further assessment.  We have heard that such assessment is possible but is not necessarily reliable. I do not draw anything adverse to the father from that course.  He does not admit the behaviour. If it occurred he has not accepted responsibility as an adult for it.   I think his capacity to understand the impact on the child from the child’s perspective, is limited.   I think (by now at least) he is rather guarded (if not suspicious and dismissive) of professional interventions which may seek to help May and would be reluctant to engage in that process or obtain counselling himself.

His Honour made his own assessment of the situation and I do not see anything that has changed the overall picture.

My conclusion is that because I cannot say the disclosures are “new” disclosures, and because the child is very young and is the sole source of the allegations, I do not believe I can make an affirmative finding that the children have been sexually abused by their father.   I agree that the material provides an overwhelming case that the child has been exposed to experience or information of adult sexual matters considerably beyond her years.  I think His Honours assessment of “unacceptable risk” is still valid.

Is the child’s behaviour explained by the mother having a delusional disorder?
I do not think that the mother has been shown to have a delusional disorder but if this is incorrect (or if the mother has an excessive preoccupation with the child being at risk of sexual abuse) does this explain the child’s presentation and disclosures?

I would find that there is a possibility (and likelihood) that the child would take on the responses of the mother to her situation.   A comment along the lines that “the police are on our side” has this quality about it.   It also seems likely that the child has at some time seen the anatomical diagram in the nurses’ book (rather than stumbling upon by chance).  This does not mean the mother’s version is incorrect.  She can only personally vouch for the child bringing the book to her and what she observed with the licking (which event I accept did happen).  (For me the fact of the licking and very unusual behaviour by the child was more significant than the diagram itself.)

I have been asked to draw an inference from the mother not calling her mother to testify in her case.  On minor matters such as the nurses’ book there may be some adverse inference open although an explanation has been given as a desire not to extend further the duration of the hearing (which I feel to be a valid explanation). Given that this case largely depends on the expert opinion evidence I am not sure that the maternal grandmother’s evidence would advance that aspect.  Dr.Quadrio has already reached some adverse impressions of her.  I draw some inference that her evidence generally may not have assisted the mother but I have difficulty identifying upon what aspect and in the final analysis find it has little or no bearing on the essential matters. 

There are two reasons why I do not accept on the evidence that the mother’s delusions (if indeed she was or is deluded) can be a full explanation of the child’s disclosures.

The first is that the disclosures do have an inherent believability about them.  The aspects which have been singled out to refute the child’s credibility (the child’s demeanour and colour of the yellow pencil) I do not find to be impressive.  It seems to be rather analogous to chopping down a few trees in order to deny you are standing in the middle of a forest.

The disclosures also have features (the glove, the tablet in the drawing) which have a very unusual feature to them.  What the child has said has been stated with reasonable consistency on a number of occasions and to different people but not with such consistency to suggest it has been learned off by heart.

The second reason is that I remain unsatisfied by any evidence as to the manner in which the mother’s delusional beliefs are transmitted to and come to be incorporated in the child’s memory as her own experiences.  It is not just a matter of the child repeating words she has heard.  She has taken on and described experience of adult concepts she would have no knowledge of and attached to them appropriate emotional content of the experiences as well.   There is nothing that suggests the child is saying these things under some duress.  It does not strike me as something the child has been coached about or that the mother would try to coach the child.   I believe it would be very difficult to coach a child in any event and especially to relate to different people over a span of time.    If the child was being coached she would have to be coached in the language that May has repeated.    She might possibly be coached about the words, but I do not accept she could be coached to take on the feelings.  Simply to be exposed to such concepts (overhearing her mother talking or questioning her) by less intensive means than actual coaching, I think make it even less plausible that the child has acquired this information and feelings by such means. The child would not be able to make the jump between the terminology used by adults amongst themselves and that used by May.

I am open to be convinced by an expert that this can occur but it has not occurred in this case and I have to draw my own inferences from that.  That inference is that it is unlikely to have occurred that way.

Likewise, the child’s responses I do not find can be explained by the child being exposed to sexual adult activity by such indirect means as seeing an explicit adult theme video (and there is no evidence of this in any event).

Certainly the mother has her primary focus on the safety of her child and the threat she considers to the children from their father. Especially when she sees that supposed risk of the father having an opportunity of approaching the children her fears are greatly elevated.  The notion that this is spoken of incessantly in the home in the presence of the child as a constancy I find little actual support for in the evidence.  The sessions with Ms Muul shows that a whole range of issues sought to be addressed in her sessions.    

It is unrealistic to say that the apprehensions of the mother (and possibly the maternal family) would be something that the child was unaware of (likewise the potential influence of the father and paternal family) but as a full explanation for the child’s disclosures and other sexualised responses (and other fearful behaviour) I just find to be unconvincing.

Could both be correct?
As a matter of common sense it is obvious that both can co-exist.  Ms Starkey refers to this likelihood in her report. Dr.Quadrio says that even if the mother has a delusional disorder this does not mean that abuse has not occurred.   In fact the factual and traumatic event of abuse may be a precipitating event which may tip the mother over into having a delusional disorder.

I might add that no party has sought to argue a case taking the converse position that there has been no exposure to abuse of the child at any time and the mother does not have and never had have a delusional disorder.

Guns and Monsters

We have reference in evidence of monsters in the air vents, monsters in stormwater drains near the beach.   The significance of this is unclear it just seems to be part of the child’s world which (at least away from school) she experiences as a place full of fears.

The guns issue and threat to shoot various people up to a point is common ground – at least to the extent that the child was aware of the father having had a gun (or guns) at some point of time and being at least concerned enough to ask him about it. 

Was this an overt attempt to stop the child making further disclosures?  Did it represent a measure of the father’s feelings of anger, desperation or lack of control at the time?   It has been suggested that this could be a case where the father has said something to the child knowing it would get back to the mother and trigger the predictable panic response in her. I discount this possibility. I do not think that [the father] would approach such a matter with that level of subtlety.  I think he is a fairly “up front” type of person.  If he was going to make a threat like that he would come right out with it.   It is not the sort of innocent comment that a child could misinterpret.  If said by him, it could indicate a level of despair or depression in the father which has so far been unevaluated.

If this threat arises from something within the mother’s own thoughts then there is no risk other than the distress to herself (her family) and that which May picks up on.  If the threats come from the father then there is an unevaluated concern.

The approach I would adopt is to keep an open mind on the possibilities but proceed with a degree of caution that attempts to “cover all bases”.   However it has come about, these are real fears for the child and that is what has to be addressed.

Broadening the picture
To deal with this case solely within the context of whether the mother has a delusional disorder or that the child has been exposed to sexual activity is to overlook many issues which have potential for impact upon the child.

The mother’s history of depression has potentially an impact on her capacity to care for children. Also her intellectual level (though her functioning level is more important).  There is the issue of the extent that the allegations of abuse and threats and the consequential distress and anxiety in herself, her children, her family have inhibited her parenting.  This is not a one dimensional issue. The mother may have acquired a degree of resilience that may not have been before.  She now has access to supports (legal, psychological, psychiatric) (and consequential greater knowledge) than she may have had previously.

I note the report of Otilia Rodrigues. That report only confirms other material. I note that the author of the report stresses that the results be interpreted with caution.

There is the issue of how these allegations may have impacted on the father and his parenting capacity.  Rightly or wrongly, a number of professionals have expressed concerns about him.

There are issues with the child herself, her fears, her school refusal. There is the issue of the (simulated?) masturbation which continues until recently. 

A significant issue for considering whether the child’s potential for development was being impeded by the domestic environment in which she was being raised was for the report of Dr.Henry.    In passing I should set out how that report come to be prepared.

During the course of the hearing it became very apparent that there was the most pressing urgency for the child May to receive some type of counselling in order to address the very real deterioration in her emotional state (particularly as outlined by Dr.Quadrio).  All parties agreed with this. Because there was an issue over funding the court made an order for the provision of support services.    No firm proposition was at that time able to be put to the court as to the type of therapy best suited to the child’s needs and who was to provide it.  My intention was insofar as possible, that such therapy would be “quarantined” from this hearing thus removing any potential motive for the child to be influenced so as (in turn) to influence any report.   Dr.Henry was engaged to identify the most suitable type of therapy for the child.  A report was provided and its contents were a matter of such concern (especially for the legal representative for the child) that it and Dr.Henry were examined at the latter stages of the inquiry. 

While part of her technique of assessing the child involved play therapy (perhaps my words rather than hers), of which I do not have great familiarity with, she is very well qualified and experienced in her field and a very impressive witness.  Her answers to questions were frank and measured.  She thoroughly prepared for the interviews by seeking information from third parties beyond that provided to her.  On the educational question I think that step was very important.   There is no reason to accept what she was told by the school etc. was other than reliable.   Her assessment of the positive improvement in May’s development since removal into out-of-home care is compelling as is the child’s perception of her father as very threatening.

Dr.Henry referred to May being “stuck for six months in her development”. She agreed that the child’s removal from the paternal grandparent’s care to foster care was correlated with the child’s improvement.   I do not necessarily interpret this in any way as a criticism of the care afforded by the grandparents.  It is noteworthy the extent of the father’s presence and involvement in the children’s care during this period.

The implication is that what was retarding the child’s natural potential for development was not within the child but due to factors outside the child.  Schooling was largely a constant as was contact to the mother. The variable was the paternal upbringing.  The child did not feel safe in that environment. I am not sure why.   In contrast Dr.Henry did not find any sign of residual harm from the earlier care of the mother.

What I gathered from Dr.Henry’s assessment was the concern for the child’s development overall had the child continued in her former environment.

(I would have thought one would ordinarily expect some at least initial regression due to the disruption to the child’s life when moved into out-of-home care but the opposite has occurred).

Dr.Henry saw therapy for the child as being very desirable and very necessary.

Her opinion was that the mother would be open to the child receiving such therapy but did not feel confident that the father would support counselling.

The children’s legal representative put various aspects of Dr.Henry’s report to Dr.Quadrio for her comment.  It did not seem to me that Dr.Quardio had any conflict with the later assessment insofar as it related to May.

Grounds for finding a child to be in need of care
The initial point to emphasise is that this is a legal test. It is not a matter the court deciding for itself that something good should or should not be done for a particular child.

I wish to start off with examining the test dealing with psychological harm (sometimes called emotional abuse).

S.7l(1) The Children’s Court may make a care order in relation to a child…if it is satisfied that the child…is in need of care and protection for any of the following reasons:

(d) subject to subsection (2), the child’s….basic physical, psychological or educational needs are not being met, or are likely not to be met, by his or her parents;

(e)
the child…is suffering or is likely to suffer serious developmental 
impairment or serious psychological harm as a consequence of the 
domestic environment in which he or she is living.
The legislation requires that the relevant psychological state of the child be due to the domestic environment in which the child is being raised.  I do not read the legislation as requiring the court additionally, to identify a particular component of that environment (if the child is raised in more than one household, in which there is the difficulty).  On the contrary, the fact that the child is being raised by a family that is homeless or itinerant is the child’s domestic environment and may be an element of instability which impacts on the child’s emotional development.

I have not been able to find a comprehensive definition of “domestic environment”. 
“Environment” is a term of quite wide import. A dictionary definition is “the aggregate of surrounding things, conditions, or influences”.  “Domestic” is defined as “having to do with the home, the household, or household affairs. Devoted to home life or affairs.”   I have found it to be helpful to approach the meaning of the term more by way of exclusion.   What appears to be intended is that a child could not be found to be in need of care if the child’s psychological development was being impeded by an endogenous (arising from within) condition or was the result of say, brain injury suffered in an accident independently of any fault of the parents.  Likewise excluded would be matters ordinarily beyond the control of a parent eg. lack of educational opportunity, racial discrimination, bullying at school.  

That the child lived with the mother but had extended contact with the father and paternal grandparents, I would find to be part of the child’s “domestic environment” in which the child is living for the purposes of s.7l(1)(e).     That the child has lived with the mother (without and then in the maternal family home), the paternal grandparents, father and back to paternal grandparents (with the almost constant presence of the father) is a relevant factor in evaluating whether the child’s basic…psychological or educational needs are not being met, or are likely not to be met by...her parents for the purpose of s.7l(1)(d).

In summary, there is a degree of overlap between the grounds in section 7l upon which a child may be found to be in need of care. Ground (c ),(d) and (e) are the relevant ones on the facts of this case.

The term “sexually abused” is not defined in the legislation.  I have used as a working definition…  “ exposure of a child to sexual stimulation inappropriate for the child’s age, level of psychosexual development, or role in the family”. (This definition appears in an article “The Conceptual Model for Judging the Truthfulness of a Young Child’s Allegation of Sexual Abuse” l986 American Jur Orthopsychiatry, 550).

Because I have been unable to determine whether the disclosures by the child are “new” disclosures beyond those considered by the Family Court and whilst appreciating that I am not strictly confined to be bound by the findings in that case, I do not see any reason to differ from them and adopt them.    I am satisfied that the child May has been exposed to a significant level of information (and direct experience) of a sexual nature beyond her years and to the significant detriment to her proper development (emotionally, socially and sexually).

Courts have not infrequently found themselves having to respond to facts in a case where the sole source of information concerning alleged sexual abuse is a young child. It is necessary for the court to approach an assessment of the evidence with caution (see for example Re W (Minors)(Wardship:Evidence) (1990) l FLR 203). The end result is that the court is sometimes hesitant to make affirmative findings against a parent of sexual abuse but by the same token entertains very real suspicions about it having occurred.  Likewise the court feels unable to make an affirmative finding that no such abuse has occurred.  The court charged with the responsibility to have as its paramount consideration the welfare of the child, has still to respond to the beliefs of the young child that such abuse has occurred and the existence of risk of its occurrence.   The child here has these beliefs irrespective of where the truth lies.   I find no evidence that the child May is probably lying, attention seeking or fantasising. I conclude each of these as an explanation for her disclosures and behaviour to be implausible.   This is not a case where it is possible to conclude that abuse has occurred but perpetrated by another unknown person.

In the Family Court His Honour made no finding that the father had sexually abused the children but no finding that he had not.  I make the same findings.  I also endorse His Honours findings of unacceptable risk and do so with an enhanced level of confidence, and for reasons not confined to the abuse issue.  I find that [the father] at this time (despite any best will to do so) would have a limited capacity to assist May to deal with the emotional trauma that she has been assessed to be in the process of recovering from.

I am not satisfied on the evidence before me that the children are in need of care on ground (c).

Regarding both grounds (d) and (e) (read in conjunction with s.72) I am satisfied on the evidence before me that each child is a child in need of care. 

